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Trustees' Report for the period ended 31 August 2025

The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements and auditors’ report
of the charitable company for the year to 31 August 2025. The annual report serves the purposes of
both a Trustees’ Report and a Directors’ report and a strategic report under company law,

The Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust was formed on 1 April 2019, The Trust operates:
# Hereford Sixth Form College which became a Single Academy Trust on 1 March 2017.
= Worcester Sikth Form College joined the Trust on 17 April 2019,
¢ King Edward W1 College, Stourbridge, joined the Trust on 1% February 2021,
¢ The Chantry and John Eyrle High School joined the Trust on 17 September 2023,

& range of other secondaries, sixth form colleges and primary schools are keen to join or work with us
and the Trust has a formal association with the 5t Mary's Reman Cathalic High School,

Structure, Governance and Management

Constitution

The Trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity., The charitable company’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association are the primary governing documents. The Trustees of Heart
of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust are also the directors of the charitable company for the purpose of
company law.

Details of the Trustees who served during the year and up to the date these accounts are approved
are included in the Reference and Administrative Details on page 2.

The Trust wish to recognise the invaluable and outstanding contribution made since its inception by
Reverand Doctor Kenneth Hopkins MBE who sadly passed away in October 2025, Kenwas instrumental
in his drive, support and vision which enabled the Trust to succeed and move forward in the way it
has.

Members' Liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable
company in the event of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they
cease o be a member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding £1, for the debts and liabilities
contracted before they ceased to be a member.

Trustees' Indemnities

Trusteaes benafit from indemnity insurance purchased at the Trust's expense to cover the liability of
the Trustees which by virtue of any rule of law would otherwise attach to them in respect of
negligence, default or breach of duty of which they may be guilty in relation to the Trust, provided that
any such insurance shall not extend to any claim arising from any act or omission which the Trustees
knew to be a breach of trust or breach of duty or not, and provided also that any such insurance shall
not extend to the costs of any unsuccessful defence to a criminal prosecution brought against the
Trustees in their capacity as Directors of the Trust.

Method of Recruitment and Appointment or Election of Trustees

Eligibility to act as a Trustee of the Trust is within the Constitutional Framework and Clauses 45 = 20
of the Articles of Association, Trustees are co-opted from the local community dependent upan skill
requirements. The Search Committee has an on-going policy of attracting Trustees with a range of
skills and background to provide the Trust with the best possible advice and support.
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Trustees’ Report for the period ended 31 August 2025

Policies and Procedures Adopted for the Induction and Training of Trustees

All Trustees are experienced in either post-16 or school governance bringing a wealth and experience.
Induction and training depend on individual's experience. Potential Trustees meet with the CEO and
the Chair of Trustees or another Trustee before they are appointed onto the Trust's Board., New
Trustees receive an induction pack and are provided with support from other Trustees and the Director
of Governance. The Trust has adopted an in-house programme of training with specialist staff
providing training sessions prior to Trustee meetings. The Trust has subscribed to the National
Gowernance Association which provides briefings, relevant information and an e-learning link for
Trustees and Governors throughout the Trust. The Director of Governance meets regularly with other
college and academy Governance Professionals and shares best practice. An annual skills and training
audit, individual Trustee's self-evaluation and one-to-one conversations with the Chair and Director of
Governance are undertaken to identify development needs and skills gaps. The Governance
Procedures are reviewed on an annual basis by the Search and Governance Committee and approved
by the Board of Trustees,

Organisational Structure
The Senior Postholders are listed on page 2. The Senior Postholders are supported by a Senior
Management Team in each academy.

The Executive Management Team of the Trust is also the formal Risk Management Group.
The committee structure of the Board of Trustees consists of:

# Audit and Risk
Curriculum and Quality
Finance and Resources
Remuneration

Search and Governance

The Chief Executive Dfficer is the Accounting Officer.

Arrangements for Setting Pay and Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling activities of the Trust and are represented by the Accounting Officer (Chief
Executive Officer) and holders of other senior posts whom the Trustees have selected for the purposas
of the Articles of Government of the Trust. Decisions relating to such appointments and remuneration
are made by the Trustees based upon the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee,
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Trustees’ Report for the period ended 31 August 2025

Trade Union Facility Time
Under the provisions of the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017,
the Trust is required to provide information required by Schedule 2 of the Regulations:

» Relevant Union Officials . =
| Number of employees who were relevant | Full-time equivalent employee numbers
union officials during the period _
10 9.31

» Percentage time spent on facility time
Percentage of time Mumber of employeeas
1% - 50% 0

» Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

Total cost of facility time  E27486
Total pay bill £41.26mil
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility 0.07%

tirme

& Paid trade union activities

Hours spent on paid facility time__ 571 ) l
Hours spent on paid trade union activities ) 0

Time spent on paid trade union activities as 0% _\
a % of total paid facility time hours

Engagement with Staff

The Trust actively engages with staff at each academy through emails, briefings, staff meetings, video
messages and training events. Throughout the year, staff, pupils and students are invited to
participate in surveys. Staff are invited to join the local Governing Body in each academy. A
comprehensive Trust-wide training programme operates,

Disability Statement
The Trust seeks to achieve the objectives set down in the Equality Act 2010

a) As part of its accommodation strategy, the Trust conducts access audits and the results of these
farmed the basis of funding capital projects aimed at improving access.

b} There is a list of specialist equipment, such as radio aids, which each academy can make available
for use by pupils and students and a range of assistive technology is available.

c} The admissions policy for all pupils and students is described in the charter at each academy. Appeals
against a decision not to offer a place are dealt with under the Complaints Palicy.

d} Each academy has made a significant investment in the appointment of specialist staff to support
pupils and students with learning difficulties and [ or disabilities wha can provide a variety of support
for leaming.
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e} There is a continuing programme of staff development to ensure the provision of a high level of
appropriate support for pupils and students who have learning difficulties and / or disabilities.

f) Specialist programmes are described in the prospectus of each academy, and achievements and
destinations are recorded and published.

g) Counselling and welfare services are described in the College Student Guide at each college which
s issued to students together with the Complaints and Disciplinary Procedure leaflets at induction.
schools have carefully planned support provision

Engagement with Related Parties & other Connected Organisations, including suppliers
In line with other trusts, schools, colleges and universities, the Trust has many stakeholders. These
include;

Pupils, students and their families;

The Department for Education:

Staff;

Local employers (with specific links);

Suppliers;

Local authorities:

Government Offices / Regional Development Agencies / Local Enterprise Partnerships;
The local community;

Further Education and Higher Education institutions;

Trade unions:

* Professional bodies.

" & ® & ® 8 8 @

The Trust recognises the importance of these relationships and engages in regular communication
with them through the websites and meetings.

Each academy also has its own ecosystem of local suppliers and partners and arganisations it works
with, for example, Worcester Sixth Form College has a joint working agreement with Nunnery Wood
High 3chool and Freedom Leisure for the operation of sports and leisure facilities.

The Trust also has significant partners and organisations which help to support or represent its
interest.

Partner Trusts

Better Futures

New Collaborative Learning Trust

Richard Huish Trust

Queen Elizabeth Sixth Form College, Darlington

Stour Vale Academy Trust

Accordia

Member Organisations

Confederation of School Trusts

Forum Strategy

Sixth Form Colleges’ Association

The CED chairs the Midland Sixth Form Colleges’ Assaciation and University of Worcester's CEO Group.
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Objectives and Activities

Mission Statement

The Trust will be a highly respected educational provider for all its students. Students will have the
autonomy and responsibility to grow, acquire skills and make decisions within a supportive, caring
environment and will have high expectations placed upon them. They will flourish not just
academically but socially and in terms of their wider skills. This will enable them to be highly successful
in their personal lives, in further study and in employment.

Member organisations will retain their unique identities and links with their immediate communities
but will share a commitment to Heart of Mercia Academy Trust’s Mission and Values.

The Trust will operate efficiently to maximise the resources that are devoted to teaching and leaming
and to creating attractive and sustainable environments for people to work and learn. This will be
achieved through collaborative purchasing and working across all member organisations wherever
beneficial and through consistently applying best practice in financial contral,

The Trust will be a supportive employer with many opportunities for staff to share best practice
through formal and informal staff development across all member organisations of the Trust.

Growth Plan
As a growing Trust, our key objectives are as follows:
= Tobeopento new academies joining either in the Sixth Form or secondary phase or in a phase
that is a new one for us
« To work with other Trusts with potential for future closer collaboration and possible
consolidation
* Towork with the RISE team and be open to taking on a struggling school if the educational and
business cases are appropriate for both parties.

Our Vision
While the character and autonomy of each institution is celebrated within our Trust, we share
collective values,

Our Values

The Heart of Mercia Academy Trust will enable autonomaous institutions to provide a range of excellent
learning opportunities in a positive, friendly, tolerant and collaborative culture allowing all to fulfil
their potential and meet their individual goals.
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Our Commitments

Educational Excellence:

Excellence, challenge and high expectations = aiming for the highest standards and to extend
the potential of our pupils, students and staff.

Chalce - Providing programmes of study which meet the individual needs of leamers in
academic, vocational and extra-curricular terms.

Inspiration — teaching puplls and students in ways that engage them, develop their skills and
independence as learners, and are based on regular assessment of their individual needs.

Sustainability:

Partnership and communication - with learners and their parents or guardians and the loal
community.

Collaboration = within the Trust and with other educational providers and the local
cammunity.

Integrity — achieving the highest standards of leadership, employment practices, Openness
and accountabiliky.

sustainably and environmentally aware — drive towards net-zero carbon through our
operational practices.

Financial sustainability and resilience - maintaining our long-term financial viability by
achieving maximum effectiveness and efficiency whilst remaining vigilant of risks to Trust
operations.

Ensuring our pupils and students are Ready for the Real World:

Development—of pupils and students as rounded individuals who are equipped for life's
challenges.

Progression = helping our pupils and students to set and achieve goals that are aspirational
and appropriate,

Diversity and inclusion — breaking down barriers to enable soclal mobility and to promote
aspiration and success for the whole of our communities.

Enjoyable Experience:

Wellbeing, care and support — of all aur staff and students.

Enjoyment — helping our pupils and students develop a love for learning and positive self-
worth.

Equality, Inclusivity and Diversity — making all pupils, students and staff feel welcome, safe
and valued and doing everything possible to help them to succeed.

Respect and tolerance —for each other and the communities in which we live and work.
Value staff as the most important resource.
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Strategic Objectives

The Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust's strategic objectives are derived from its vision and values,

1.

DELIVER HIGH QUALITY AND INCLUSIVE EDUCATION MOTIVATING AND EQUIPPING PUPILS TO
ACHIEVE SUCCESSFUL OUTCOMES

Further develop school improvement systems and processes

Build further leadership capacity

Top performance outeames for all academies in the Trust

Frimary and special schoo! integration

Culture of enrichment and skills development

syatem-led improvement

Inclusbon focus (PP/Disadvantaged /SEND &te.)

2, | MAMAGE FINANCE AND OPERATIONS RESPONSIBLY, EFFICIENTLY AND SUSTAINABLY ACHIEVING
VALUE FOR MOMNEY
Financial sustainabifity
Capital Strategy [inc. digital)
Poficy development and monitoring
Develapment of & common culture and approach
Risk management
3. | GROW SUSTAINABLY TO CREATE EFFICIENCIES, EMBED A RESPONSIVE SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT
MODEL TO IMPACT POSITIVELY ON THE QUTCOMES FOR ALL PUPILS IN THE TRUST
Primary E:rpa_nsinn
Special School expansion
Secondary & Sbith Form College development
Continue to develop work with ather Trusts and individuals and organisations
Development n-‘f;;adb,l and risk evaluation
4. | WALUE AND INVEST IN ALL STAFF PROMOTING A CULTURE OF ETHICAL LEADERSHIP
Recruit, develop and retain talented staff
Employee engagement
Succession planning
Collaborative Trust culture
Health and Wellbeing Charter
Promotbon of EDI
Continue to promote culture of ethical leadership
5| OPERATE A CULTURE OF OPEN, HOMEST AND ACCOUNTABLE GOVERNANCE
Campliance
Accountability
Recruitment, induction, training and succession planning
Engagement

Evaluate effectiveness of governance

10
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6. | EXTERMAL LINKS
To enhance the lnks within lacal hubs and, where appropriate form links with other erganisations,
at a national or international bevel.

MARKETING
To ensure that the Trust and constituent schools and colleges market themselves effectively and
that the Trust has in ewerview of standards and recruitment tasgels and patterns.

f

8. QUALITY
To develop and implement further methods for monitoring and improving quality in all aspects of
the Trust's waork,

Implementation of Strategic Plan
The Trust Strategic Development Plan has regard to Government policy and is updated annually. The
plan includes property and financial plans, The Trust's priorities include:
1. Providing educational excellence for all puplls and students and implementing quality
inspection processes 1o ensure this.
2. Ensuring the sustainability of the Trust through financial stability, the development of high
quality resources and future growth.
3. Ensuring that pupils and students are ready for the real world in a diverse and inclusive
enviranment.
4. Creating an enjoyable experience for all - pupils, students and staff.

The Trust monitors the plan on a continuing basis.

Public Benefit
The Trust is an exempt charity under part 3 of the Charities Act 2011 and is regulated by the Secretary
of State for Education. The Directors, who are Trustees of the charitable company, are disclosed on

page 2.

In setting and reviewing the Trust's strategic objectives, the Trustees had due regard for the Charity
Commission’s guidance on public benefit and particularly upon its supplementary guidance on the
advancement of education. The guidance sets out the requirement that all organisations wishing to be
recognised as charities must demonstrate, explicitly, that their aims are for the public benefit,

In delivering its mission, the Trust provides the following identifiable public benefits through the
advancement of education:

s High-guality teaching.

= ‘Widening participation and tackling social exclusion.

s  Excellent employment record for students.

* Strong student support systems.

» Links with employers, industry and commerce.
Strategic Report

Achievements and performance

Performance Indicators
Each college produces a Strategic Development Plan, which 15 reviewed each year, and an annual

11



Docusign Envelope ID: F83853E4-9B37-45C9-A885-C90084C9839E

Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust
31 August 2025 {company number 10499174)

Trustees’ Report for the period ended 31 August 2025

action plan that incorporates the outcome of the annual self-assessment,

Each school produces a School Evaluation Form (SEF) and a School Development/improvement Plan
(SDP/5IP), which are reviewed each year by the Trust Quality Team as part of the ongoing quality
AS5Urance process,

This development plan focuses on four headline targets:
*  Learner number growth and achievement of funding targets
*  Learner achievement — raw and value-added
e Learner retention and attendance

Financial Health indicators

Additionally, the Trust monitors key performance measures for each Academy where appropriate:
» Success Rates
# Learner Destinations
» Satisfaction Survey — stakehalder views (learner, staff and parent)

The Trust is committed to observing the importance of the sector measures and Indicators and uses
the FE Choice website which looks at measures such as success rate.

Financial Objectives

The main purpase of the Trust’s Financial Strategy is to ensure that the Trust’s objectives as set out in
the Strategic Development Plan are achieved whilst at the same time, maintaining financial viability
and sustainability.

The key objectives of the strategy are:

To ensure financial viability and sustainability.

To ensure the Trust achieves a “Good” financial health grade.

To generate an operating surplus,

To attract and retain the best staff by ensuning salaries are attractive.

» To ensure that sufficient funds are available to enable the maintenance and improvement of
the accommodation and equiprment,

* To maintain positive relationships with our bankers, auditors, and the Department for
Education.

' Financial Performance Indicator . Target Actual as at 31 hugust
2025

Earmings  before  interest,  taxation, 0.33% 3.52%

depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) as %

of income

Staff costs as % of income B0 75%

Adjusted current ratio 2 288

Barrowings as % of income 0 1]

Reliance on DIE Inmme 97% 4%

DFE financial heaith score Good  Good

12
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Student Numbers
Retention rates are;

" Starters | Retention | Starters | Retention | Starters | Retention

1024/25 2024/25 2023724 202324 202223 022013
Hereford Sixth Form College | 2166 | 95.48% 2225 96.56% 2158 95 0%
King Edward VI College | 2459 96.46% 2320 97.19 2391 | 94.5%
Warcester Sixth Form College | 1764 93.4% 1751 936% | 1696 | 932%

Valwes for 2023, 2023 and 2021 are based on the final statutory data submission (R14} for each year. Figures for 2024 are
based on tha penultimate submission (R13) for the wear,

GCSE results were pleasing with improvement in key measures again evident at lehn Kyrle High School.
John Kyrle High School and 5t Mary's RC High School continue to perform strongly in the Herefardshire
context. The Chantry has strong performance within Worcestershire and will be focussing on further

improving Maths,
John Kyrle High Schoal The Chantry School
2025 | 2026 | 2023 | 2025 | 2024 | 2023
Attainment8 | 4758 | 47.0 46.1 2924 | 493 50.6
Achleving 4+ in English and Maths | 67.4% | 67.0% | 64.0% | 715% | 738% | 725%
[ Achleving 5+ In English and Maths | 48.4% | 44.8% | 43.0% | 436% | 514% | 50%

Achieving Grade 4+ English | B0.1% | 761% | 73.0% | B2.1% | 854% | B3.1%
Achleving Grade 5+ English | 62.4% | S8.7% | 55.0% | 63.1% | 69S% | 674%
Achieving Grade &+ Maths | 729% | 7L7% | 690% | 77.7% | 756% | 77.5%
Achleving Grade 5+ Maths | 57.9% | 526% | 49.0% | 480% | s43% | 596%

Value Added [VA) has improved at both Hereford and Waorcester Sixth Form Colleges and vocational
areas continue to impress. King Edward VI College has strong achievement, but VA softened a little
from the 2024 figure.

SFCA DFE A level DIE
o level Value VocationalfApplied
Value Added Added Value Added
2025 2024 2023 2025 2025
Hereford Sixth
-0.02 0.12 0.01 0.21 0.47
Farm College
Johin Kyrie Sicth NA NA NA 0.49 0.27
Form Centre
Wing Edward Vi |, 0¢ 0.04 003 0.16 0.43
College
Worcester Sixth
001 0.03 0.27 0.31
Form College i

SFCA 2025 Figures are baged an the 2025 SFCA internal sample. DIE Figures for 2025 are based on the 2024 national data sat.

The Trust targeted an improvement in attendance across its institutions and this has been pleasingly
evident at all academies.

13
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Teaching and learning strategies undergo ongoing evaluation and enhancement to ensure that the
curriculum in both schools and colleges addresses the needs of local students.

Curriculum Developments

Across the 3 colleges, the majority of students follow a programme of 3 or 4 subjects and an
enrichment programme including Core Maths and careers education. A number of more able students
will also do an extended project as part of their enrichment.

All colleges run a personal tutor system that supports students with their programme of study.

Mationally and within the West Midlands region, the Trust is renowned for its academic excellence and
wide range of extracurricular opportunities. At the secondary level, the Chantry consistently delivers
strong academic results, regularly ranking among the top in county perfarmance tables. John Kyrie
High School, which has benefited from substantial support from the Trust, continues to show
improving performance trends.

Going Concern

After making appropriate enguires, the Board of Trustees has a reasonable expectation that the Trust
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foresesable future. For this
reason, it continues 1o adopt the going concern basis in preparing the fimancial statements. Further
details regarding adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting
Palicies.

The assessment is based upon:
= A strong balance sheet with net current assets of £8,6mil,
* A current ratio of 2.88,
s Zero borrowing,
* Sustained growth in student enrolments at our academies,

Financial Review

The Trust receives the majority of its funding from the DfE in the form of recurrent grants paid on a
monthly basis. The grants received during the period are shown as ‘restricted funds” in the Statement
of Financial Activities.

The Trust also benefits from the annual School Condition Allowance of £2.8m {2024 £2.5m) to be
invested in estates projects across the Trust,

During 2024425, work has continued on the following estates projects that were either completed at
the year-end or during the autumn term:

» Address capacity issues at King Edward V1 College,

¢ The second phase of fire safety improvements at Worcester Sixth Form College,

» Remodelling of toilet facilities and improvements to sporting facilities at Hereford Sixth Form
College,

¢«  Remodelling of pastoral facilities and refurbishment of Food Technology at The Chantry,

14
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+  Refurbishment of Food Technology at John Kyrle High School.

AL the year-end, the ‘Earnings Before Tay, Interest, Depreciation and Amaortisation” was £1.8m (2024
E914k) against a budgeted position of £182k. The improved position against budget was due to
additional DFE funding and tight control over pay and non-pay costs.

At 31% August 2025, the net book value of fixed assets was £66m {2024 £66m). Movements in tangible
fived assets are shown in note 14 to the financial statements.

The closing level of unrestricted and restricted reserves [excluding fived asset reserves and the LGPS
deficit) stands at £6.8m (2024 £4.7m).

Treasury Management and Investment Palicy

Treasury Management is the management of the Trust's cash flows, banking and money market
transactions: the effective control of risks associated with these activities; and the pursuit of optimum
performance consistent with the associated risks. The Trust has a separate Treasury Management
policy in place.

During the period, there was no short-term borrowing for temporary revenue purposes and the Trust
does not have any outstanding bank loans. All borrowing requires the authorisation of the Trustees
who must comply with the requirements of the Funding Agreement agreed with the DIE.

To enable Worcester Sixth Form College to convert to an academy, the outstanding loan with Lloyds
Bank was paid by Hereford Sixth Form College. This was shown in the accounts as an inter-companny.
The Principal and Governors have decided to repay the loan in full prior to the year-end. The balance
outstanding was £438k.

The Trust has developed an Investment Policy that allows funds, identified as surplus to immediate
requirements through cash flow monitoring, to be placed on shert-term deposit with banks. The
interest rate has remained strong during the financial year. Should the reserves increase sufficiently
to consider longer-term investment, the Trust would employ an agent to give advice on suitable
investmeant oppartunities.,

Fundraising

The Trust is predominantly funded by the DfE based upon the submission of student data returns on
a periodic basis. The Trust does not actively engage in fundraising and does not actively canvas for
donations on a local, regional, national or international basis. The Trust does not contract with any
external agencies to fundraise on its behalf,

Reserves Policy

The Trustees review the reserve levels on an annual basis. The review encompasses the nature of
income and expenditure streams, in restricted income streams, the need to match income with future
commitments and the nature of reserves. The Trustees also take into consideration the future plans
of the Trust, the uncertainty over future funding and staff pay awards and other key risks identified
during the risk review.,

15
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The Trustees have determined that the appropriate level of operating reserves should be
approximately 10% of educational grant income. Operating reserves are considered to be those
income reserves that are available to be used by the Academy Trust for its normal operating activities
and is generally represented by unrestricted income funds (excluding any designated funds) and
restricted income funds that are considered to be available for the general purposes of the Trust [such
as GAG funds).

The reason for this reserves policy is to provide sufficient working capital to cover delays between
spending and receipts of grant funding, to provide a cushion to deal with unexpected emergencies
such as urgent maintenance, long term staff absences etc and to provide sufficient financial resilience
to offset continued funding pressures in the sector.

The Acaderny Trust's current level of operating reserves at 31 August 2025 is 13% of educational grant
income (2024: 10%). This is £6.8m (2024: £4.7m), which is made up of restricted income funds of
ES.em (2024: £3.9m) and unrestricted funds of £1.2m (2024; £773k).

Although the current level of operating reserves is above the target level identified abave, the Trustees
expectation is that these reserves will be utilised over the next few years to fund the ongoing
development of the Trust, including the meed to fund ongoing pay increases and energy cost increases
across the sector and the need to fund ongoing capital projects and developments.

The value of the restricted fixed asset fund at 31 Auvgust 2025 is £68.1m [2024: £67.5m], which is
represented by the fixed assets that are used exclusively for providing education and associated
support services to the pupils of the Trust, and the balance of unspent capital grants to be used on
future capital expenditure. These funds can only be realised by disposing of the associated tangible
fived assets or by utilising the amounts of unspant capital grants in line with the terms and conditions
of those grants.

Thi pension reserve fund has a balance at 31 August 2025 of £Nil, which represents the balance in the
LGPS at the balance sheet date, The actuary’s FR5102 valuation report at 31 August 2025 indicated an
asset in the scheme of £13, 287k, the pension asset has been reduced to a EMil balance in the financial
statements. The effect of this asset position is that Academy Trust may be required to make reduced
pension contributions over the next 3 year funding period with the effect being that the surplus is
ultimately repaid over the next 20 year period. These reduced pension contributions will continue to
be funded from the Trust’s annual recurring income. In the event that the LGPS moves in an overall
deficit position in the future, the Trustees have noted however that the Government has provided a
guarantee that in the event of an Academy closure, any outstanding LGPS liabilities would be met by
the Department for Education.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The systemn of internal control maintained by the Trust includes financial, operational and risk
management which is designed to protect the assets and reputation.

A Risk Register is maintained by the Trust, which is reviewed at each meeting of the Audit and Risk
Committee, and on a regular basis by the Executive Management Team. The Risk Register identifies
the key risks, the likelihood of those risks occurring, their potential impact on the Trust and the actions
being undertaken to reduce and mitigate the risk. Risks are prioritised using a consistent scoring
system. Outlined below is a description of the principal risk factors that may affect the Trust. Not all
the factors are within the Trust's control. Other factors besides those listed below may also adversely
affiect the Trust.

1 Government funding

The Trust has considerable reliance on continued Government funding through the DFE. Over 94% In
of the Trust's revenue is ultimately publicly funded, and this level of requirement is expected to
continue. There can be no assurance that Government policy and practise will remain the same, or
that public funding will continue at the same level or on the same terms.

The Trust is aware of the following issues that may impact on future funding:
¢ Stronger competition from other local providers,
» Changes to gualifications, such as the Advanced General Qualification (AGQY).
» Changes to income streams such as the Post 16 Maths Fund.

The risk is mitigated in a number of ways:

# The Trust has a robust marketing strategy that seeks to ensure that student numbers are
maintained in the face of demographic decline.

= By ensuring the Trust is rigorous in delivering high quality education and training.

» Considerable focus is placed on maintaining and managing key relationships with the Funding
Body.

= Ensuring the Trust is focused on those priorities which will continue to benefit from public
funding,.

s Regular dialogue with the Department for Education, the Funding Body and Local Authorities,

2 External Economic Pressures
The Trust is likely to face considerable external economic pressures as public sector funding looks to
tighten.

The risk is mitigated through:
» The Trust does not have any loans so is protected from interest rate increéases.
# The Trust has reserves to ensure that capital projects can be completed.
= Setting realistic budgets based upon modelling different scenarios.
» Continual scrutiny of financial information.
Procuring supplies on a MAT basis to secure better deals.
» Reviewing procurement in relation to capital projects.
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3 Pension liabilities

Where appropriate, the financial statements report the share of the Local Government Pension
scheme deficit on the Trust's balance sheet in line with the requirements of FRS 102, The risk is
mitigated by an agreed deficit recovery plan.

Included within the Academy's balance sheet at year end is a defined benefit pension scheme balance
of ENIl (2024: ENil), which arises from the Local Government Pension Schame ("LGPS") that is
attributable to the Academies in the Trust. Whilst the actuary’s FRS102 valuation report at 31 August
2025 indicated an asset in the scheme of £13,287k, there is significant judgment needed by the
Trustees in assessing whether the surplus should be recognised as a pension asset or whether the
surplus should be restricted to some level or in total. In line with the asset ceiling review and
calculations provided by the actuary, the pension asset has been reduced to a £Nil balance in the
financial statements. Further details regarding the LGPS balance at 31 August 2025 and the basis on
which this has been recognised in the financial statements are set out in note 1.17 to the financial
statements,
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

As a large employer, as determined by section 465 and 466 of the Companies Act 2006 and consuming
in excess of 40,00KWH of energy in the reporting year, the Trust is required to report on its energy
consumption,

UK Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use data for the period

1 September to 31 August
| 2025 2024
Energy consumption used to calculate emissions 6,474,843 kWh 5,893,056 kWh
(kWh)
Energy consumption break down (kWh)
Gas, 2,553,873 kWh 2,961,974 kWh
Electricity, 4,291,445 kWh 2,444 517 kWh
Qil, 526,586 kWh 397,553 kWh
Transport fuel 102,939 kWh 89,012 kWh
Scope 1 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e
Gas consumption 457.26 tCO2E 541.75 tCO2E
Oil consumption 150,20 1002E 98,10 tCOZE
Owned transport - mini-buses 12.85 tCO2E 11.0 tCOZE
| Total scope 1 630.31 vCOZe 650.85tC02e
Scope ¢ emissions in metric to 7
Purchased electricity 582.59 tCO2e 550.87 tCO2e
[ & missions in met nn Ze
Business travel in employee owned vehicles 12.92 tC02e 10,96 tCO2e
Total gross emissions in metric tonnes COZe 1,286.801C02 | 1,212.68 tCO2e
Intensity ratio
Tannes CO2e per student 0.15 tCO2e 0.14 tCO2e

Quantification and Reporting Methodology:-

s We have followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We have also
used the GHG Reporting Protocol — Corporate Standard and have used the 2024 UK Gowvernment's
Conversion Factors for Company Reporting.

The Chantry and John Kyrle High School joined the Trust on 1% September 2023.

Intensity measuremeant
The chasen intensity measurement ratio is total gross emissions in metric tonnes COZe per student,
the recommended ratio for the sector.

Measures taken to improve energy efficiency
We have installed solar panels; LED lighting; automated shut down of computer equipment in the
evenings; and increased video conferencing technology for staff.
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Current and Future Development and Performance

Staffing

The Trust considers good communication with its staff, pupils and students to be very important, and
publishes bulletins and regular newsletters. Regular staff briefings and meetings are held at all
academies. 5taff and student involvement is encouraged through membership of farmal committees,
and electronically via email and the staff portal.

Maintenance Programme

The Trust operates a rolling programme of planned maintenance, which is reviewed each year and
maonitored on an ongoing basis, The costs are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities in the
year in which they are incurred. Minor Capital Works that add value to the estate are capitalised at
the year-end. The Trust works with a wide-range of contractors to ensure that all statutory checks of
our estate are periodically undertaken in accordance with regulations. Any issues raised are assessed
and prioritised by the Senior Leadership team in each academy.

Future Prospects
The Trust faces a number of challenges:
*  Maintaining student and pupil numbers in the face of increased competition and new
qualifications and apprenticeships,
*  Developing the curriculum to meet the needs of students,
The potential for cuts in funding streams and the funding rate failing to match inflation,
Maintaining the guality of outcome and experience for pupils and students,

Resources
The Trust has various resources that it can deploy in pursuit of its strategic objectives.
* |ts estate, with a net balance sheet value of £66.2m (2024: E66m)
*  net current assets of £8.65m [2024: £6.2m)
= established staff of 898 people (headcount) {2024: 869 people), of which 463 are teaching
staff (2024: 460)
* [ts reputation, both locally and nationally as a Trust that achieves excellent results, together
with high quality pastoral support,

Events after the end of the Reporting Period
There are no significant or material events to report after the period end.

The MAT is continuing to explore opportunities for expansion.
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Equal Opportunities

The Trust is committed to ensuring equality of opportunity for all who learn and work here. We respect
and value positively differences in race, gender and gender identity, parental and marital status, sexual
arientation, disability, religion or belief and age. We strive vigorously to remove conditions which place
people at a disadvantage and we will actively combat discrimination. This policy is resourced,
implemented and monitored on a planned basis. The Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy is
published on the website, The Trust publishes an Annual Equality Report and Equality Objectives to
ensure compliance with all relevant equality legislation including the Equality Act 2010.

The Trust is a "Positive about Disabled’ employer and has committed to the principles and objectives
of the 'Positive about Disabled’ standard. The Trust considers all employment applications from
disabled persons, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the individuals concerned, and guarantees an
interview to any disabled applicant who meets the essential criteria for the post. Where an existing
employee becomes disabled, every effort is made to ensure that employment with the Trust
continues. The Trust's policy Is to provide training, career development and opportunities for
promotion which, as far as possible, provide identical opportunities to those of nen-disabled
employeaas.

The Trust has also implemented an updated Equality & Diversity training programme which all staff
have attended. Refresher training and training for new starters is carried out on an ongoing basis,

Disclosure of information to auditors
In 50 far as the Trustees are aware:
s there is no relevant audit information of which the Charitable Company’s auditor is unaware;
and
+ the Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themsehes aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

This report incorporating the Strategic Report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees as the
campany directors, on 11" December 2025 and signed on the Board’s behalf by:

g@-@’l&’g#b’e = Mrs 5. Boniface, Chair of Trustees
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Scope of Responsibility

As Trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that Heart of Mercia Multi-
Academy Trust has an effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However,
such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. As Trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE's Governance
Handbook and competency framework for governance,

The Trustees have delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer, as
Accounting Officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety
and good financial management and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities
assigned to it in the Funding Agreement between the Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust and the
Secretary of State for Education, They are also responsible for reporting to the Trustees any material
wieaknesses or breakdowns in internal control,

The Trustees consider that the Board and its Committees combined, meet adequately and regularly
aver the course of the year in order to discharge their responsibilities and have robust and effective
management arrangements.

Governance

The infarmation on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees” Report and
in the Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities. The Board of Trustees has met five times during the
period. Attendance at meetings during the year was as follows:

Trustee Meetings Attended Out of a Possible
Dr K Hopkins, Chair {until 31 4 4

August 2025) _
P Cooper, Chief Executive 3 4
Officer

5 Boniface
& Tully

Dr M Hawkins
K Jackson

D Pearce-Higging
C Holden

R Salter

P Jackson

J Britton

C Mnrgan

=R LRI PR T EFER LR EFER - EFE]

o | el | ol | b | B | e | ||| s S

Search and Governance Committes

The Search and Governance Committee is a committee of the main Board of Trustees established to
secure a quality Board of Trustees in consultation with the Members of the Trust. it also appoints
Governors to its Local Governing Bodies. The Committee oversees and safeguards the governance
health of the Trust and its academies,

Finance and Resources Committee

The Finance and Resources Committes is 8 committee of the main Board of Trustees. Its purpose is
to review the financial position of the Trust, including revenue, capital and cashflow and investments,

22



Docusign Envelope ID: F83853E4-9B37-45C9-A885-C90084C9839E

Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust
31 August 2025 [company number 10493174)

Governance Statement

on a half termly basis and receives regular reports on capital schemes and other premises and
resaurce 15sues. It advises the Board on all financial and resource matters.

Attendance at meetings during the year was as follows:

Trustee Meetings Attended Out of a Possible
% Tully, Chair 3 3
P Cooper ] 3
Dr K Hopkins 3 3
S Boniface 3 3
I Britton 2 2
L Marron {co-opted) 2 2

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee comprises at least three Trustees (excluding the Accounting Officer
(CED) and Chair of Trustees). It operates in accordance with written terms of reference, which meet
requirements of the DFE Academy Trust Handbook and are approved by the Trustees. Its purpose s
to advise the Trustees on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Trust's systems of internal control
and its arrangements for risk management, control and governance processes.

The Audit and Risk Committee meets at least three times per year and provides a forum for reporting
by the Trust's Internal Auditors, Reporting Accountants and Financial Statements Auditors, who have
access to the Committee for independent discussion, without the presence of management. The
Committee also receives and considers reports from the Funding Body if they affect the operations.
The Trust's Internal Auditors review the systems of internal control, risk management controls and
governance processes in accordance with an agreed plan of input and report their findings to
management and the Audit and Risk Committee,

Management is responsible for the implementation of agreed audit recommendations. The Internal
Auditors undertake periodic follow-up reviews to ensure that recommendations have been
implemented.

The Audit and Risk Committee also advises the Trust on the appaintment of Internal Auditors,
Reporting Accountants and Financial Statements Auditors, and thelr remuneration for both audit and
man-audit work as well as reporting annually to the Trustees,

Attendance at meetings during the year was as follows:

Triistie Meetings Attended Out of a Possible
¢ Holden, Chair 3
Dr M Hawkins

K Jackson

P Jackson

€ Morgan

5 Wilson [Co-opted)

HH'H‘HWH
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Academy Trust Governance Code
The Board of Trustees adopted the Academy Trust Governance Code, a voluntary code for academy
trusts in England. The Code draws upon the Charity Governance Code and applicable guidance from
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the Department for Education. It sets out the principles, desired outcomes, and recommended
practice for effective governance. Trustees have used the Code as a tool for continuous improvement
in its gevernance and monitored its progress to comply with the Code.

The Board of Directors

The compaosition of the Board of Trustees is set out on page 2. It is the Board of Trustees’ responsibility
to bring independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, performance, resources and standards
of conduct. Trustees are provided with regular and timely information on the overall financial
performance, together with other information such as performance against targets, capital
expenditure, quality matters and personnel related matters such as health and safety and
envirenmental issues.

During the year, the internal auditors completed a review of governance focusing on business
continuity arrangements within the Trust. This was given reasonable assurance confirming that the
Trust has an up-to-date business Continuity Plan which will be tested during the following year.

The Trustees conduct their business through a number of committees, Each committee has terms of
reference, which have been approved by the Board of Trustees. Full minutes of meetings, except
those deemed confidential by the Trustees, are available on the website (www . heartofmercia.ong.uk),
or from the Directer of Governance at:

Heart of Mercia

Hereford Sixth Form College
Folly Lane

Hereford

HR1 1LU

To monitor potential conflicts of interest, the Director of Governance maintains a register of financial
and personal interests of the Trustees, which is published and available for inspection. A gifts and
hospitality register is also maintained; however, nothing has been declared during the year.

All Trustees are able to take independent professional advice in furtherance of their duties at the
Trust's expense, and have access to the Director of Gaverna nce, who is responsible to the Board of
Trustees for ensuring that all applicable procedures and regulations are complied with. The
appeintment, evaluation and removal of the Director of Governance are matters for the Board of
Trustees as a whole.

Formal agendas and reports are supplied to the Trustees in a timely manner, prior to Board meetings,
and ad-hoc briefings are also provided.

The Board of Trustees has a strong and independent non-executive element and no individual ar
group dominates its decision-making process. The Board of Trustees considers that each of its non-
executive members is independent of management and free from any business or other relationship
that could materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.

There is a clear division of responsibility in that the roles of the Chair of the Board of Trustees and the
Accounting Officer (Chief Executive Officer) are separate,
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Appointments to the Board of Trustees

Any new appointments to the Board of Trustees are a matter for the consideration of the Board of
Trustees as a whole. The Board of Trustees has a Search and Governance Committee comprising the
Accounting Officer (CEQ), the Chair and twa other members, which is responsible for the selection
and nomination of any new potential Trustee for the Board of Trustee's consideration. The Board of
Trustees is responsible for ensuring that appropriate training is provided as required. Trustees are
appointed for a term not exceeding four years, upon which they may be re-glected.

Remuneration Committes

Throughout the year ended 317 August 2025, the Remuneration Committee comprised the Chair and
three Trustees. The Committee’s responsibilities are to make recommendations to the Board of
Trustees on the remuneration and benefits of the Accounting Officer (CEO) and other senior
postholders, Details of remuneration of these postholders for the year ended 31* August 2025 are
cat gut in note 9 and 10 of the financial statements.

Curriculum and Quality Committee

The Committee assists the Trust to discharge its responsibility for the educational standards and
character of the Trust. It shall monitor and advise the Board regarding the performance and standards
of the Trust's Academies including performance data, student achievement and monitor the
implementation of improvements. It shall oversee safeguarding arrangements to ensure that these
are robust and following Keeping Children Safe in Education.

Review of Value for Money

As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for ensuring that the Trust delivers
good value in the use of public resources. The Accounting Officer understands that value for money
refers to the educational and wider societal outcomes, as well as estates safety and management,
achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received,

The Accounting Officer considers how the Trust’s use of its resources has provided good value for
money during each academic year, and reports to the Board of Trustees where value for money can
be improved, including the use of benchmarking data where appropriate.

With regard to demonstrating value for money, the Trust has regularly achieved above national
benchmark outcomes. The academies have historically had above average value-added perfarmance.
Despite reductions in funding, the Trust has maintained the guality of outcomes for pupils and
students and the quality of its resources and accommodation. The Trust has robust and realistic plans
for ensuring its financial viability in the face of possible further cuts and falling rolls within the
counties,

Further information on our approach to maintenance is documented on page 20 and our estates
projects completed during 2024/25 on pages 14 and 15.

25



Docusign Envelope ID: F83853E4-9B37-45C9-A885-C90084C9839E

Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust
31 August 2025 [company number 10455174)

Governance Statement

Purpose of the System of Internal Control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate
all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can, therefore, only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal contral is based on an on-going
process designed to identify and prigritise the risks to the achievement of Trust policies, aims and
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The system of internal contral has been in place at the Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust for the
period 1% September 2024 to 31" August 2025 and up to the date of approval of the Report and
Financial Statements.

Capacity to Handle Risk

The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the Trust is exposed together with the
operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks, The
Board of Trustees is of the view that there is a formal ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the Trust's significant risks that has been in place for the year 1% September 2024 to 317
August 2025 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. This
process is regularly reviewed by the Board of Trustees.

The risk management process is regularky reviewed by the Board of Trustees.

Risk and Control Framework

Thie Trust's system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management information
and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and

accountability. In particular, it includes:-

# comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial
reports which are reviewed and agreed by the Board of Trustees

# regular reviews by the Board of Trustees of reparts which indicate financial performance against
forecasts and major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes

# setting targets to measure financial and other performance

 clearly defined purchasing [asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines
* delegation of authority and segregation of duties

+ identification and management of risks

The Board of Trustees has considered the need for a specific Internal Audit function and following a
competitive tendering exercise, RSM UK have been appaointed to the role from 1% September 2025.

The Trust has an Internal Audit service, which operates in accordance with the requirements of the
latest DFE's Academy Trust Handbook. The work of the Internal Audit service is informed by an analysis
of the risks to which the Trust is exposed. The annual Internal Audit plan is based on this analysis, The
analysis of risks and the internal Audit plan are endorsed by the Trustees on the recommendation of
the Audit and Risk Committee. At least annually, the Head of Internal Audit (HIA) provides the
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Trustees with a report on Internal Auwdit activity.

The Internal Auditor's role includes giving advice on financial and other matters and performing a
range of checks on the Trust's financial and other systems. In particular, the reviews carried out
included:

Folliowing up on the status of previous recommendations
Bursary compliance

Staff retention

Learning numibers: compliance testing

Risk management: mitigating controls

Safeguarding

ITC Cyber security

s Governance: business continuity

¢ Financial controls - payroll

s Learner numbers: compliance testing

" 8 & & 8 @

On a termly basis, the Internal Auditor reports to the Board of Trustees, through the Audit and Risk
Committee on the operation of the systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees
financial responsibilities. On an annual basis, the Internal Auditor prepares a summary report for the
Committee outlining the areas reviewed, key findings, recommendations and conclusions to help the
Committee consider actions and assess year-on- year progress.

There have been no restrictions in performing this work as planned during this financial year,
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Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control. During the year in question, the review has been informed by:

* The work of the Internal Auditors

*  The work of the External Auditors

= The financial management and governance self-assessment process

= The work of the executive managers within the Trust who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control framewaork

The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system
of internal control by the Audit and Risk Committee, which oversees the work of the Internal Auditor
and other sources of assurance, and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the systems in place.

The Senior Management Team in each academy receives reports setting out key performance and risk
indicators and considers possible control issues brought to their attention by early warning
mechanisms, which are embedded within the departments and reinforced by risk awareneass training.
The Senior Management Team in each academy and the Audit and Risk Committee also receive
regular reports from Internal Audit that include recommendations for improvement. The Audit and
Risk Committee’s role in this area is confined to a high-level review of the arrangements for internal
control. The Board of Directors’ agenda includes a regular item for consideration of risk and control
and receives reports thereon from the Executive Team and the Audit and Risk Committee. The
emphasis is on obtaining the relevant degree of assurance and not merely reporting by exception.

Conclusion

Based on the advice of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Accounting Officer, the Board of
Trustees i= of the opinion that the Trust has an adequate and effective framework for governance,
risk management and control.

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 11" December 2025 and signed on its
behalf by:

51“Ed1llfllllll.l.l ';"'L:'P-Hlil'rhﬂ llllllllllllllll =] Mr- FI Eﬂn'per
Accounting Officer (Chief Executive Officer)

R ¥ 11 Boniface
Chair of Trustees
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Statement of Regularity, Propriety and Compliance

As Accounting Officer of Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust, | confirm that | have due regard to the
framewark of authorities governing regularity, property and compliance, including the Trust's funding
agreement with the DFE, and the requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook, including
respansibilities for estates safety and management. | have also considered my responsibility to notify
the Trust Board of Trustees and the DFE of material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance with
the terms and conditions of all funding, including for estates safety and managemant.

I confirm that | and the Trust Board of Trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper
use of funds by the Trust, or material non-compliance with the framework of authorities.

| confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or non-compliance have been
discovered to date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be
notified to the Board of Trustees and the DfE.

? Lu 11" December 2025

Mr. P. Cooper
Accounting Officer (Chief Executive Officer)
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Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities

The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law)
are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with
the Annual Accounts Direction published by the Department for Education, United Kingdom
Accounting Standards [United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under
company law, the Trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming
resaurces and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for that period. In
preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required 1o:

# select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistenthy

¢ observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts
Direction 2024 to 2025

»  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent

¢ state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements

e prepare financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the charitable company will continue in business

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
charitable company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities,

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company
applies financial and other contrals, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of
good financial management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants received from the ESFA /
DIE have been applied for the purposes intended.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of corporate and financial information
included on the charitable company’s website, Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 11™ December 2025 and signed on its
behalf by:

MWirs 5 Boniface &@QUE
Chair of Trustees = -
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Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements to Members of
the Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust [the "Academy
Trust') for the year ended 31 August 2025 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the
Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flaws and the related notes, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framewaork that has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law, United Kingdom Accounting Standards [United Eingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’, the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts
Direction 2024 to 2025 issued by the Department for Education,

In our opinion the financial statements:

* give a true and fair view of the state of the Academy Trust's affairs as at 31 August 2025 and
of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure
for the year then ended;

» have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and

s have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the
Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025 issued by the
Department for Education.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UE) {1545 [UK)] and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report, We are independent of
the Academy Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the United Kingdom, including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion,

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Trustees' use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriata.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Academy
Trust's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Trustees with respect to going concerm are
described in the refevant sections of this report,
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Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Trustees” Annual Report other than
the financial statements and our Auditor's Report thereon, The Trustees are responsible for the other
infarmation contained within the Annual Report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other
infarmation and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in
the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

* the information given in the Trustees' Report, which includes the Strategic Report and the
Directors’ Report prepared for the purposes of company law, for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared s consistent with the financial statements; and

& the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report included within the Trustees’ Report have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the: light of our knowledge and understanding of the Academy Trust and its environment obtained
im the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or
the Directors’ Report included within the Trustees’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act
2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion;

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us: or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we reguire for gur audit.
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Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the Trustees' responsibilities statement set out on page 30, the Trustees
(whao are also the Directors of the Academy Trust for the purposes of company law) are responsible
far the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Academy Trust's
ability to continue as a going concemn, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Academy
Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
arp free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with 154s [UK) will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in
respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Our assessment focused on key laws and regulations the Academy Trust has to comply with and areas
of the financial statements we assessed as being more susceptible to misstatement. These key laws
and regulations included but were not limited to compliance with the Companies Act 2008, Charities
Act 2011, the Academy Trust Handbook 2024, the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025,
taxation legislation, data protection, anti-bribery and employment legislation.

We are not responsible for preventing irregularities, including fraud. Our approach to detecting
irregularities, including fraud, included, but was not limited to, the following:

* obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Academy
Trust and how the Academy Trust is complying with that framework, including agreement of
financial statement disclosures to underlying documentation and other evidence;

s obtaining an understanding of the Academy Trust's control environment and how the
Academy Trust has applied relevant control procedures, through discussions with Trustees
and other management and by reviewing the reports on the internal scruting work
commissioned by the trust in relation to the year and by performing walkthrough testing over
key areas;

» obtaining an understanding of the Academy Trust's risk assessment process, including the risk
of fraud:
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»  reviewing meeting minutes of those charged with governance throughout the year; and

« performing audit testing to address the risk of management override of controls, including
testing journal entries and other adjustments for appropriateness, evaluating the business
rationale of significant transactions outside the normmal course of business and reviewing
accounting estimates for bias.

Whilst considering how our audit work addressed the detection of irregularities, we also considered
the likelihood of detection of fraud based on our approach. Irregularities arising from fraud are
imherently more difficult to detect than those arising from error,

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities,
including those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with
regulation. This risk increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the
events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware
of instances of non-compliance. The risk is also greater regarding irregularities accurring due to fraud
rather than error, as fraud invelves intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or
misrepresentation.

& further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the

Financial Reporting Council's website at: www. frcorg.ukfauditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our Auditors' report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Academy Trust's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
o the Academy Trust's members those matters we are required to state to them in an Auwditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Academy Trust and its members, as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Glen Bott [Senior Statutory Auditor)

Signed by,
far and on behalf of Ao Pl
Cooper Parry Group Limited 1 SOCATREAR

Statutory Auditor

Cubo Birmingham

4™ Floar

Twa Chamberlain Square
Birmingham

B3 3AX

Date: 15 December 2025
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Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for
Education

In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 4 June 2025 and further to the
reqguirements of the Department for Education (DME), as included in the extant Framework and Guide
for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Acadenvy Trusts, we have carried out an
engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether anything has come to our atténtion that
would suggest, in all material respects, the expenditure disbursed and income received by Heart of
Mercia Multi-Academy Trust during the year 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 have not been
applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and that the financial transactions do not conform
to the autharities which govern them.

This report is made solely to Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for
Education in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter, Our work has been undertaken so
that we might state to Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education
those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than Heart of Mercia
Multi-Acadermy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education, for our work, for this report, or for the
conclusion we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer of Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust and
the reporting accountant

The Accounting Officer is responsible, under the requirements of Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy
Trust's funding agreement with the Secretary of State for Education and the Academy Trust
Handbook, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the purposes
intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Qur responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s
ethical guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and repart in accordance with our engagement
letter and the requirements of the extant Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting
Accountants of Academy Trusts, We report to you whether anything has come to gur attention in
carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and income
received during the year 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 have not been applied for the purposes
intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which
govern tham.

Approach

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Framework and Guide for External Auditors
and Reporting Accountant of Academy Trusts issued by DFE. which requires a limited assurance
engagement, as set out in our engagement letter,

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain
information and explanations in arder to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a
negative conclusion on regularity. A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a
reasonable assurance engagement and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we
would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance
engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion.

Qur engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and
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Education
propriety of the Academy's income and expenditure.

The work undertaken to draw our conclusions included:

* Reviewing the internal control policies and procedures implemented by the Academy Trust
and evaluating their design and effectiveness to understand how the Academy Trust has
complied with the framework of authorities, including reviewing the reports on the internal
scrutiny work commissioned by the Academy Trust in relation to the Year;

* Reviewing the minutes of meetings of the Trustees, relevant sub-committees and other
evidence made available to us, relevant to our consideration of regularity;

* Enquiries of the Accounting Officer, including reviewing the work undertaken by the
Accounting Officer in relation to their Statement on Regularity, Propriety and Compliance:
and

* Detailed testing of the income and expenditure of the Academy Trust based on our
assessment of the risk of material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance. This work
was integrated with our audit of the financial statements where appropriate and included
analytical review and detailed substantive testing of transactions.

Conclusion

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material
respects the expenditure disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2024 to 31
August 2025 has not been applied for the purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial
transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them,

A
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Reporting Accountant
Cooper Parry Group Limited

Date: 15 December 2025
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(including Income and Expenditure Account)

Unrestricted Restricted  Restricted Tatal Total
Funds General Fixed Asset 2025 2024
Funds Funds restated
Motes £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £°000
Income & Endowments from:
Donations & capital grants 3 - 159 3,195 3,354 3,306
Transfer an conversion 33 - - - . 25,850
Charitable Activities
Funding for the Trust's 4 1,255 55,549 . 56,804 52,662
educational operations
Dther trading activities 5 1587 - - 157 200
Investment income & 288 - - 288 203
Total Income 1,740 55,708 3,195 60,643 82221
Expenditure on:
Charitable Activities
Trust’s educational operations  7/8 1,336 53,222 2,803 57,361 54,110
Total Expenditure 1,336 53,222 2,803 57.361 54,110
Net Income / (Expenditure) 404 2486 392 3,282 23,111
before Transfers
Transfers between Funds = - [126}) 116 - -
Met Income [ (Expenditure) it 2,360 518 3,282 28,111
before other recognised gains
and losses
Actuarial {loss)/gain on 19, 29 - {660} - (660) 439
defined benefit pension
schemes _
MET MOVEMENT IM FUNDS 404 1,700 518 2,622 28,550
RECOMCILIATION OF FUNDS:
Total funds brought forward 773 3,933 67,546 72,252 43702
TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED 1,177 5,633 68,064 74,874 72,252
FORWARD
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2025 2025 2024 2024
restated restated
Motes £'000 £'000 E£'000 £'000
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 13 4 11
Tangible assets 14 66,220 65,930
Investments 15 - 107
656,224 66048
Current assets
Stocks 16 . 26
Debtors 17 1,695 1,292
Current asset imvestments 26 4,840 2,071
Cash at bank and in hand 26 6,706 7,235
13,243 10,624
Liabilities
Creditors: Amounts falling due 18 (4,593) 14,420
within ane year :
Met current assets 8,650 _ b204
Met assets excluding pension 74,874 72,252
assaet [ (liability)
Defined benefit pension scheme 29 - -
asset [/ (liability) =
Total Met Assets 74,874 74,452
Funds of the Trust
Restricted funds
» Fived asset fund 19 68,064 67,546
* Restricted income fund 15 5,633 3,933
* Pension reserve 19 - -
Total Restricted Funds 73,697 __ 71479
Unrestricted income fund 15 1A 773
Total funds ?ﬂ,#?d 72,252

The financial statements on pages 37 to 72 were approved and authorised by the Board of Directors
on 11" December 2025 and were signed on its behalf on that date by:

k)
Mrs 5. Boniface 1@. e o Chair of Trustees

Mr. P. Cooper ......cconhes L,( ........... " Accounting Officer [Principal)
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Statement of Cash flows for the period ended 31 August 2025

2025 2024
Motes £'D0D £'000

Cash flows from operating activities:
Met cash provided by operating activities 23 1,847 2,304
Cash flows from financing activities 24 - -
Cash flows from investing activities 25 3493 1,232
Change in cash & cash equivalents in the reporting period 2,240 3,536

2025 2024

£'000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalents at 1* September 2024 9,306 £, 770
Cash and cash equivalents at 31" August 2025 26 11,546 9,306
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

1. Statement of Accounting Policies
& summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except
where noted), judgements and key sources of estimations uncertainty, is set oult below,

1.1  Prior Year Adjustment

Non-Deferral of Capital Grant

In the prior year, E1,605k capital grant had been unconsumed by activities, as at 31 August 2024, The
accounting treatment should have been to fully recognise this grant income in the restricted fixed
asset fund in the prior year, rather than treat it as deferred income within creditors. Correction of the
errar increases restricted fixed asset reserves at 31 August 2024 by £1,605k, and reduces deferred
income within creditors by £1,605k. Capital income in the S0FA in vear ended 31 August 2024 is
increased by £1,6805k as a result of the prior year adjustment.

Reclassification of Land & Buildings (note 14)

In the prior year, £16,560k leasehold land and buildings were wrongly classified as freehold land and
buildings. The associated accumulated depreciation of these assets was £1,706k. There is £nil effect
on balance sheet disclosure as a result of this reclassification. There is Enil effect in the SOFA,

In addition, £489k leasehold land and building depreciation had been incorrectly classified as freehold
land and building depreciation. There is £nil effect on balance sheet disclosure as a result of this
reclassification. There is £nil effect in the S0FA,

Re-presentation of Creditors Classes [note 18)

In the prior year, classes of creditors were presented using non-statutory categories of disclosure,
Creditor classes have been amended in note 18 to align disclosure categories to those required by
statute. There is Enil effect on balance sheet disclosure as a result of this re-presentation. There is Enil
effect in the SOFA.

Re-presentation of Cash and Cash Equivalents (note 26)

In the prior year, £2,071k short-term investmeants with a maturity term greater than three months
have been re-presented in note 26 as separate to cash in hand and at bank, and on the face of the
balance shest. There is £nil net effect on balance sheet disclosure as a result of this re-presentation.
There is Enil effect in the SOFA.

LGPS Asset Ceiling [note 29)

In the prior year, note 29 Pension Obligations disclosed the present value of LGPS obligations to be
the same as LGPS scherme assets, to show that the net asset reflected in the actuarial valuation would
not be recognised. The obligations are now stated at their actuarial value and the net asset corrected
using the effect of the asset ceiling. There is Enil effect on balance sheet disclosure as a result of this
re-presentation. There is Enil effect in the SOFA.

1.2  Basis of Preparation

The financial statements of the Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been
prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard
Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities:
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) applicable to charities preparing their accounts in
accordance the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland
(FRS 10Z] [Charities SORP [FR5102)), the Acadernies Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025 issved by the
DFE, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006,
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1. Statement of accounting policies {continued)
The Trust meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102,

1.3 Going Concern

The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e, whether there are any
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of
the charitable company to continue as a going concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect
of a pericd of at least one year from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and
have concluded that the Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties about the Trust’s ability to continue as a
going concern, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements. At the year-end, the Trust had cash and bank balances of £11.5m (2024: £9.3m)
and reserves (excluding fived assets and pension liabilities) of £6.81m (2024; £4.71m).

The Trustees have considered the effects of current inflationary pressures in their assessment.

1.4 | e

All incoming resources are recognised when the Trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is
probakble and the amount can be measured reliably.

# (Grants

Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of
income received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant
funds an the balance sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-related
conditions there s not unconditional entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred and
included in creditors as deferred income until the performance-related conditions are met, Where
entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued.

General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for which
it is receivable and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and recognised
as a liability.

Capital grants are recognised in full when there is unconditional entitiement to the grant. Unspent
amounts of capital grant are reflected in the balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital

grants are recognised when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on
which they are expended.

e Sponsorship Income

Sponsorship income provided to the Trust which amounts to a donation is recognised in the Statement
of Financial Activities in the period in which it is receivable (where there are no performance-related
conditions), where the receipt is probable and it can be measured reliably,

+ Donations

Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions)
where the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.,
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1. Statement of accounting policies (continued)

«  Other Income

Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the
extent the Trust has provided the goods or services.

* Donated goods, facilities and services

Goods donated for resale are included at fair value, being the expected proceeds from sale less the
expected costs of sale. If it is practical to assess the fair value at receipt, it is recognised in stock and
‘Income from other trading activities. Upon sale, the value of the stock is charged against ‘Income
fram other trading activities and the proceeds are recognised as ‘Income from other trading activities.
Where it s impractical to fair value the items due to the volume of low value items they are not
recognised in the financial statements until they are sold. This income is recognised within ‘Income
from other trading activities.

® Donated fixed assets (excluding Transfers on conversion/into the Trust)

Where the donated good is a fived asset, it is measured at fair value, unless it is impractical to measure
this reliably, in which case the cost of the item to the donor should be used. The gain is recognised as
income from donations and a corresponding amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset
category and depreciated over the useful economic life in accordance with the Trust's accounting
policies.

1.5 Espenditure

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit
to a third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and
the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably, Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs
of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including support costs
involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs attributable to a single activity are allocated directly
to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one activity and support costs which are
not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those activities on a basis consistent with
the use of resources. Central staff costs are allscated on the basis of time spent, and depreciation
charges allocated on the portion of the asset’s use,

Expenditure on raising funds includes all expenditure incurred by the Trust to raise funds for its
charitable purposes and includes costs of all fundraising activities events and noen-charitable trading,

Charitable activities are costs incurred on the Trust’s educational operations, including support costs
and costs relating to the governance of the Trust apportioned to charitable activities.

1.6 Tangible Fixed Assets
Assets costing £2,000 or more are capitalised as tangible ficed assets and are carried at cost, net of
depreciation and any provision for impairment.

Where tangible fived assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the
government or from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated
over their expected useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding
requiring the continued use of the assat, the related grants are credited to a restricted fived asset fund
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1. Statement of accounting policies (continued)

in the Statement of Financial Activities and carried forward in the Balance Sheet. Depreciation on the
relevant assets is charged directly to the restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial
Activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been acguired with unrestricted funds, depreciation on
such assets is charged to the unrestricted fund.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freeheld land, at rates caleulated to
write off the cost of each asset on a straight-line basks over its expected useful life, as follows:

+ Freehold/Leasehold buildings 2% per year

s Leasehold land 125 years

e 3G Pitch [Hereford) 5% per year

s Computers 20 - 25% per year
&  Mator Vehicles 10 - 25% per year
=  Other equipment 10 - 20% per year
s Fixtures & fittings 10% per year

Assets in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged
until they are brought into use and reclassified to freehold or leasehold land and buildings.

Although the policy for vehicle depreciation is currently 14% (7 years), depreciation is considered on
a vehicle by vehicle basis for example, Second-hand vehicles may be depreciated at 25% (4 years).
Assats in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged
until they are brought into use.

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying
value of fixed assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments, Impairment
losses are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities.

1.7 Intangible fixed assets

Intangible assets costing £2,000 or more are capitalised and recognised when future economic
benefits are probable and the cost or value of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets
are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at cost net of amortisation and any
provision far impairment,

Amortisation is provided on intangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost of each
asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows:

« Purchased computer software 4 years straight line
1.8  Interest Receivable

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured
reliably; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the Bank.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

1. Statement of accounting policies (continued)

149 Debtors

Trade and other debtors with no stated interest rate and due within one year are recorded at the
amount of cash or other consideration expected to be received, Prepayments are valued at the
amount paid.

1.10 Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts. Deposits
are repayable on demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty, Cash
equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash with insignificant risk of change in valwe, It is Trust policy to imvest surplus funds in at least three
different recognised financial institutions. In the pericd, funds were spread across five financial
institutions in order to spread the risk to resenes.

1.11 Stocks
The only stocks held at the end of the period were stocks of curriculum materials, Stocks are stated at
the lower of their cost and net realisable value.

1.12  Liabilities

Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past
event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount
of the settlement can be estimated reliably, Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Trust
anticipates it will pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the
goods or services it must provide,

1.13  Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a past
event which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can be

estimated reliably,

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation, Where
the effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those
amounts, discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability, The
unwinding of the discount is recognised within interest payable and similar charges.

A contingent Bability arises from a past event that gives the Trust a possible obligation whose existence
will only be confirmed by the ocourrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Trust. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise
be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed in the notes to the

financial statements. The Trust currently has no provisions except for the obligations with regard to
the Local Government Pension Scheme and no contingent liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31" August 2025

1. Staterment of accounting policies (continued)

1.14  Leased Assets
Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.15 Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions relate to field courses. They are recorded using the rate of exchange
ruling at the date of the transaction. During the period, foreign currency transactions amounting 1o a
total of GOk [2024: £50k) took place. There were no outstanding foreign currency transactions at the
pericd end.

1.16 Taxation

The Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in paragraph 1 schedule & Finance Act 2010, and
therefore meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes.
Accordingly, the Trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains
received within categories covered by part 11, chapter 3 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section
256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied
exclusively to charitable purposes.

1.17 Pension Benefits
Retirernent benefits to employvees of the Trust are provided by the Teachers” Pension Scheme {TPS)
and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), These are defined benefit schemes.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions
over employees’ working lives with the Trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level
percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the
Government Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method.
TPS is an unfunded multi-employer scheme with no underlying assets to assign betwean employers.

Consequently, the TPS is treated as a defined contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the
contributions recognised in the period to which they relate,

The LGPS is a funded multi-employer scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the
Trust in separate administered funds, Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities
are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate
equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and
currency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at
each balance sheet date. The amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and
the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtallments, They are incleded
as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability [/ asset is also
recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities and comprises the interest cost on the defined
benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, calculated by multiplying the fair value
of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to discount the benefit
obligations. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual return
on the scheme assets is recognised im other recognised gains and losses, Actuarial gains and losses
are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31% August 2025

1. Statement of accounting policies (continued)

1.18 Short Term Employment Benefits

short-term employment. benefits such as salaries and compensated absences (holiday pay) are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the employees render service to the Trust. Any unused
benefits are accrued and measured as the additional amount the Trust expects to pay as a result of
the unused entitlement.

1.19  Fund Accounting
Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the
charitable objects of the Trust at the discretion of the Trustees.

Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed
by Funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose.

Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the
funder/donar and include grants from the Department for Education.

1.20  Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable unmder the
circumstances,

Critical occounting estimates and assumptions

The Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

The Trust has to determine whether leases entered into either as a lessor or a lessee are operating or
finance leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of whether the risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a lease by lease basis.

The Trust has to determine whether there are indicators of impairment of the tangible assets,
including goodwill. Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic
viability and expected future financial performance of the asset and where It is a component of a
larger cash-generating unit, the viability and expected future performance of that unit.

The present value of the LGPS defined benefit liability depends on a number of factors that are
determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining
the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, which
are disclosed in note 29, will impact the carrying amount of the pension Hability. Furthermore, a roll
forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March
2022 has been used by the actuary In valuing the pensions lability at 31 August 2025, Any differences
between the figures derived fram the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact
upan the carrying amount of the pension Lability.
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To the extent that there is a surplus in the Local Government Pension Scheme at the Balance Sheet
date, there is significant judgment needed in assessing whether the surplus should be recognised as a
pension asset or whether the surplus should be restricted to some level or in total. This assessment
will need to consider whether the Trust, as the employer, has an unconditional right to a refund of the
surplus in the scheme and whether there is an economic accounting benefit available to the Trust as
a contribution reduction, which will also include assessing whether a minimum funding requirement
for future service and / or past service exists in the scheme. The impact of these assessments on the
extent to which the scheme surplus has been recognised as a pension asset at the Balance Sheet date

are set out in note 29, To

2,  Geperal Annual Grant [GAG)
The Trust was not subject to a GAG carry forward restriction.

3. Income from Donations and Capital Grants

Restricted

Unrestricted Restricted Fixed Asset Total Total

Furnds Funds Funds Funds Funds

2025 2025 2025 2025 2024
Restated

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Capital Grant . - 3,150 3,150 3,176
Cither Donations - 159 a5 204 130
s 159 3,195 3,354 3,306

2024 restated - 30 3,276 3,306
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Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust
31 August 2025 [company numbaer 10459174

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

4. Funding for the Trust's Educational Operations

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
Fumds Funds Funds Funds
2025 2025 2025 2024
£'000 £°000 £'000 £'000
DfE Grants
General Annual Grant (GAG) - 47,724 47,724 45,729
Pension funding - 2,383 2,383 1,720
Budget Grants - 1,725 1,725 -
Other DFE Grants - 925 925 1,139
- 52,757 52,757 48,588
Cither Government Grants
Other government grants - - - -
Local Autharity grants - 729 729 4592
- 729 729 493
Other Funding
Other grants - 75 75 43
Other income from educational 1,255 1,988 3,243 3,534
operations
1,255 2,063 3,318 3,582
1,255 55,549 56,804 52,662
2024 1,583 51,079 52,662
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5. Other Trading Activities

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
Funds Funds Funds Funds
2025 2025 2025 2034
£'000 £'000 £'000 E 000
Catering income 50 . 50 55
Hire of facilities 140 - 140 120
Incame from other activities 7 - 7 25
1497 - 197 200
2024 200 - 200
B, Investment Income
Unrestricted Restricted Total Tatal
Funds Funds Funds Funds
2025 2025 2025 2024
£'000 £'000 £' 000 E*000
COIF investments 4 - 4 5
Short term depaosits 284 . 284 194
288 . 288 203
2024 203 - 203
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F Expenditure
Mon Pay Expenditure

Staff Total Total
Costs Premises Dther 2025 2024
£'000 £°000 £'000 E£"000 E'D00
Trust's educational operation:

s Direct Costs 29,891 - 5413 35,304 33,718
& Allocated Support Costs 13,142 5,556 3,359 22,057 20,392
43,033 5,556 8,772 57,361 54,110

2024 39,318 5875 3917 54,110

Included in the Academy’s "educational direct costs — other’ is £1,236k {2024: £1,559k) of expenditure
spent from unrestricted funds.

Included in the Acadeny's ‘educational allocated support costs — Premises’ is £2,803k (2024 - £2,972k)
of expenditure spent from Restricted Fixed Asset Funds.

The remaining expenditure of £53,222k (2024; £49,579k) is spent from Restricted Funds.

Net Incoming Resources / {Resources Expended) for the period includes:

2025 2024

£°000 £°000
Operating lease rental 149 224
Amortisation 7 7
Depreciation 2,756 2,723
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 40 242
FRS 102 net interest (income) / cost [234) (170}
Auditor's remuneration — Internal Audit 21 15
Auditor's remuneration - Financial statement 30 36

and regularity
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31% August 2025

8. Charitable Activities

Taotal Total
2025 2024
restated
£'000 £°00:0
Direct costs — educational operations 35304 33718
Support costs — educational operations (below) 22,057 20,392
57,361 54,110
Analysis of support costs:
Total Total
2025 2024
£'000 £ (00
Support staff costs 13,142 11 668
Amortisation 7 7
Depreciation 2,756 2,723
Loss on disposal of tangible fived assets aq 2432
Technalogy costs 1,691 1,240
Premises costs 2,753 2,903
Other support costs 1,643 1,572
Governance costs 25 3
Total Support costs 22,057 20,392
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

9. Staff Costs

A. 5taff Costs and Employee Benefits
Staff costs during the period were:

Tatal Total
2025 2024
£°000 £'000
Wages B salaries 31,760 29,697
Social security costs 3,516 2,894
Operating costs of defined benafit pension schemes 7,896 6,763
Additional LGPS deficit lump sum contribution 58 108
short term employvee benefits i -
Apprenticeship Lewy 163 132
FRS5 102 Pension charge - (426) (420)
- 42,971 39,174
External employees S a1 43
- a3mz 39,217
Staff restructuring costs 21 o1
Total staff costs 43,033 39,318
Staff restructuring costs comprise:
¢ Contractual - redundancy payments = 1
* MNon-contractual — severance payments 21 0

B, Payments
The Trust paid threa severance payments in the year, disclosed in the following bands:

0 - £2%,000 3
£25,001 - £50,000

£50,001 - £100,000

£100,001 = £150,000

£150,000 +

special staff severance payments totalled £21,418 and consisted of three payments (£14,781,
£4,997 and £1,639).
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Motes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31" August 2025

€. Staff Numbers

The average number of persons employed by the Trust during the period, were as follows:-

2025 2024

Headcount Headoount

Teachers 463 1]

Administration and support 427 401
Management 8 E.'ﬁ.

OB 269

D. Higher Paid 5taff
The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs and
employer National Insurance) exceeded £60,000 in a twelve-manth period was:

Key managemant
personnel Other Staff
in the band of: 2025 2024 2025 2024
£60,001 - £70,000 - - 28 18
£70,001 - £80,000 - L 5
£80,001 - £90,000 - 1 3 2
£90,001 - £100,000 s 1 1 1
£100,001 - £110,000 2 3 -
£110,001 - £120,000 1 1
E120,001 - £130,000 1 a 3
E150,001 - E160,000 - 1
£160,001 - £170,000 1 , . ;
7 ) if 26

E. Key Management Personnel

The key management personnel of the Trust comprise the Trustees and the Senlor Postholders
as listed on page 2.

Key management personnel compensation for the period was made up as follows:

2025 2024

£'000 £°000

Salaries — including restructuring costs 864 823
Employers Mational Insurance 115 104
Benefit in kind i 5
979 932

Pension contributions 240 205
1,219 1,137

There werg no amounts due to key management personnel that were waived in the year, nor
any salary sacrifice arrangements in place.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

10,

11.

12

F. Accounting Officer (Executive Principal)

The above compensation includes amounts payable during the period to the Accounting Officer
[Executive Principal) [who was also the highest paid officer) of:

2025 2024

£'000 £'000

Lalaries 169 160
Employers Mational Insurance 23 21
Benefit in kind L .
192 181

Pension contributions 48 41
240 222

Trustees’ Remuneration and Expenses
One or more Trustees have been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from an
employment with the Trust. The Principal only receives remuneration in respect of services he
provides in undertaking the role of Principal under his contract of employment.

The value of Trustees’ remuneration and other benefits for the year to 317 August 2025:

Mr Peter Cooper (Principal and Trustee):
Remuneration £165,001 - £170,000 (2024: £155,001 - £160,000)
Employer's pension contributions paid £45,001 - £50,000 (2024: £40,001 - E45,000)

During the vear ended 31 August 2025, travel and subsistence expenses totaling £2,355 (2024:
£3,029) were reimbursed or paid directly to a Trustee. This was in relation to the work
undertaken as employees of the Trust, not in relation to their roles as Trustees.

Trustees' and Officers’ Insurance

in accordance with normal commercial practice, the Trust has purchased insurance to protect
Trustees and Officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions acourring
whilst on academy business. The insurance provides cover up to £5,000,000 on any one claim
and the cost for the year ended 317 August 2025 was £1,000 (2024: £1,000], The cost of this
insurance is included in the total insurance costs.

Central Services
The Trust has provided the following central services to its academies during the year:
. Central staffing
. Audit and legal fees
" Central ICT licences
. Insurance

Thee Trust charges for these services on a per capita basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31% August 2025

The actual amounts charged during the year were as follows:

2025 2024
£'000 £'000
Hereford Sixth Form College 558 558
Waorcester Sixth Form College 440 440
King Edward VI College, Stourbridge 635 635
The Chantry Schaal 95 A8
lohn Kyrle High School 156 78
1,885 1,759
13. Intangible Fixed Assets
Software Total
£'000 £°000
Costs or valuation
At 1" September 2024 B G2
At 31" August 2025 - b2 62
Amortisation
At 1% September 2024 51 =1 §
Charge R . s
At 317 August 2025 58 58
Carrying value at 4 4
31" August 2025
Carrying value at 11 11
31 August 2024

35



Docusign Envelope ID: F83853E4-9B37-45C9-A885-C90084C9839E

95

payelsal
0£6°59 B oL ElG BiBE Ot 609 T96'9E 962'9% tZ0Z Isndny ., TE 12 AGN
ozz'eq L 5Bt 386 ZO9E 0601 00s T90'9E T59'9% STOZT 1sndny ,TE 18 AGN
ZET'TIT 18 8EE'T SEL 91z - S9E 898'E GES'Y SZOZ ¥sniny .TE W
{82) - (8L : - 1 - : - - S|ES0dsIp — UoREUILYI
9sL'T 4 FEE arL a5 521 wi't £54 afueya uopepasdag
pajelsal
vis'e 09 ZET'T L0s 991 5 ovZ L29°2 zaL'e PTOT Jaquiandas T v
uoneasdag
TILL 99T ELB'T TZLT BLS _080°T 598 6Z6'GE D6T'TE SZOZ N3Ny . TE I
{811) - (06} - (8Z) - - sjesodsiq
- - . - . (Z1) - - I JNY siajsuelj
9E0'E L LET 11} b1 060°T a1 vt 00Tt SUCpRY
pajeisad
rt vl ) 9£8'1 ozr's ¥as or 68 88S'6E BLO'OE FZOZT 1aquiaydas T3y
UOREN[EA JO 1507
D00, 3 000.3 000.F 0003 000.¥ 000, F 000.3 000, F 000.3
jelo] LETRTITETY BIEMPIEH Juawdinby Aaujyaey WOEINSUaTy spuawanosdwy  sFuipjing s3uipping
e Jagndwsed S aNIng B WEd JBPUN MR ployIsa T puE] B pue]
ployasea] Pioyaaud

(bLIGEROT Jaquunu Auvedwos) SZOT sndny TE
1sn4) Awapedy-iniy BI2J3A] JO JESH

sjassy paxid ajqiduel  pl

§Z0Z 15n3nY , T€ papua poliad 3y} Joj SIUBWILIS [BIPUBULS 3Y3 O SRION



Docusign Envelope ID: F83853E4-9B37-45C9-A885-C90084C9839E

Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust
31 August 2025 (company number 10439174]

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

14. Tangible Fixed Assets (continued)
The academy trust’s transactions relating to land and buildings included:
+ The disposal of the Gatehouse at King Edward VI College at a value of £28k.

& Within buildings additions above, s £1,090k (2024: £648k) expenditure relating to
assets under construction in year ended 31st August 2025.

The Trustees have considered the need for a full impairment review during the year and have
concluded that they feel the assets are held at an appropriate valuation considering their
current and future use in education,

15.  Investments

COIF Total
£'000 E'00D
WValuation
At 1* September 2024 107 107
Additions = =
Revaluation &) 6]
Reclassification to bank and cash (101} (101}
Valuation at 31" August 2025 - -
16. Stocks
2025 2024
£ "0
£000
Stock o - 2 26
2 26
17. Debtors
2025 2024
£'000 £ 000
Trade debtaors 42 104
VAT recoverable 232 175
Other debtors 68 73
Prepayments and accrued income = under one year 1,353 940
1,695 1,292
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

18.  Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2025 2024
restated
£°000 £'000
Trade creditors 10 5]
Other taxation and social security 798 653
Accruals and deferred income 2,025 4,218
Other creditors 1,760 1,554
4,593 4,420
Deferred Income

2025 2024
restated

£'000 £'000

Deferred income as at 1" September 2024 restated 737 612

Resources deferred during the year G60 737
Amounts released from previous vears (737) (612)
Deferred Income as 31" August 2025 660 737

Income has been deferred based upon the period to which it relates. At the balance sheat date, the

Trust was holding the following funds received in advance:

2025 2024

restated

£'000 £'000

DfE funding creditor - revenue 537 737
Mon-DIE creditor - revenue 123 -
=11 737

The revenue creditor includes unspent bursary and free school meals grants that have been deferred

to 2025/26 in line with funding regulations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

19, Statement of Funds

Brought Transfers Gains [ Carried
Forward income  Expenditure InfOut (Losses) Forward
1/9/2024 31/8/2025
restated
E£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £°000
Total Unrestricted Funds 773 1,740 ~ {1,338) - - 1,177
Restricted Funds
Transfer on conversion 1,208 - - - - 1,208
Pension Reserve - . 660 - (660) -
General Annual Grant 2,725 47,724 {45,898) [126) - 4,425
Pay & pension funding . 2,383 {2,383) - - -
Local Authority Grant - 729 (729) - - -
Budget Grant ) 1,725 (1,725)
Other DFE Grants - o325 (925) - - -
Other restricted funds - 2,063 (2,063) - . -
Donations - 159 {159} - - -
3,933 55,708 (53,222) {126) (660) 5,633
Restricted fixed asset funds
Transfer on conversion 53,934 . (2,803} - 51,131
DFE capital grant 2,973 3,150 - 12,123
Donations 198 45 - - = 243
Capital exp. from GAG : 4,441 - - 126 = 4,567
67,546 3,195 (2,803) 126 - 68,064
Total Restricted Funds 71,479 58,903 {56,025) : (660) 73,697
Total of Funds 72,252 60,643 {57,361) - (660) 74,874

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows:

s The Restricted General Fund includes GAG and other grants received from the DfE and the
Local Authority towards educational activities.

« The Restricted Fixed Asset Fund includes amounts received from the DFE in respect of tangible
fixed assets held for academy use. Transfers between the GAG Fund and Restricted Fixed
Asset Fund relate to purchases from this fund.

« The Pension Reserve relates to the Trust's share of the Local Government Pension Scheme.

» Under the Funding Agreement with the Secretary of 5tate, the Trust was not subject to a limit
on the amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31" August 2025,
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Transfers between funds

During the year, a transfer between funds has been made for fixed assets purchased out of general
restricted funds.

Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows:

Brought Transfers Gains Carried
Forward Income  Expenditure In/Cut [Losses) Forward
01/0%/2023 31/08/2024
restated
E"DOOD £'000 £'000 £°000 £°000 £'00:0
Total Unrestricted Funds (130) 2,462 {1,559) . 773
Restricted Funds
Transfer on conversion 997 211 - - - 1,208
Pension Reserve . {1,029) L90 - 434 -
General Annual Grant 2,352 45,729 (44,789) (567) . 2,725
Pay & pension funding - 1,720 {1,720) . .
Local Authority Grant - 492 [482) - -
Other DfE Grants - 1,139 {1,129) -
Other restricted funds - 1,994 {1,999) - .
Donations - 30 130 - - -
3,349 50,291 [49.'5?9; (567) 439 3,933
Restricted fixed asset funds
Transfar on conversion 30,714 26,192 (2,972) - - 53,934
ME capital grant 5,797 3,176 . - 8,973
Donations g8 100 . . = 198
Capital exp. from GAG 3,874 - . a7 . 4,441
40,483 29,468 (2,972) 567 E 67,546
Total Restricted Funds 43,832 79,759 (52,551) - 439 71,479
Total of Funds 43,702 823221 (54,110) - 439 72,252
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Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust
31 August 2025 (company number 10499174)

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

19.  Statement of Funds ([continued)

Total funds analysis by academy
Fund balances at 31 August 2025 were allocated as foflows:

2025 2024
£'000 E'D00
Hereford Sixth Form College 4,746 3,328
Warcester Sixth Form College 769 145
King Edward VI College, Stourbridge 580 203
The Chantry School B39 571
John Kyrle High School {639) {239)
Central services 715 698
Total before fixed assets and pension reserve 6,810 4,706
Restricted fixed asset funds 63,064 67,546
Pension reserve . -
Total 74,874 72,252

John Kyrle High School is carrying a net deficit of £(639)k (2024: £{239)k) on these funds. The Schoal
is working towards managing costs.

Total cost analysis by academy
Expenditure incurred by each academy during the year was as follows:

Teacher Other Educational  Other Costs 2025 2024
and  Support Supplies [excluding
Educational Staff Depreciation)
Support Costs
Staff Costs
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Hereford Sixth 7,364 2,969 1,332 1,557 13,222 12131
Form College
Woroester Sixth 5,619 2,171 G2 1,559 5,951 9,440
Form College
King Edward Vi 7,366 2871 1,045 2,022 13,308 12,387
College
The Chantry 4,308 1,062 268 931 6,569 6,065
school
John Kyrle High 6,752 1,484 658 1,067 9,961 9,908
school
Central services 527 499 _38 483 1,547 1,207
Trust 31,936 11,056 3947 7,619 54558 51,138

The FRS 102 pension charges of the Worcestershire Pension Fund have been allocated against Central
Services as the split between the MAT's sites cannot be identified. The FRS 102 pension charges of
the West Midlands Pension Fund have been allocated against Central Services, in order for consistent
treabment across the MAT,
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

20, Analysis of Net Assets between Funds
Fund balances at 31 August 2025 are represented by:

Restricted Restricted
Unrestricted General Fined Asset Total
Funds Funds Funds Funds
£°000 £'000 £'000 £ D00
Intangible Fixed Assets - . 4 4
Tangible Fixed Assets . - 6,220 66,220
Currents Assets 1177 10,226 1,840 13,243
Current Liabilities . [4,593) . {4,593)
Pension Scheme asset = = - =
Total Net Assets 1,177 5,633 68,064 74,874
Comparative information in respect of the preceding period (restated) is as follows:
Restricted Restricted
Unrestricted General Fixed Asset Total
Fumnds Funds Fumnds Funids
restated restated
E"000 £°'000 £°'000 £'00:0
Intangible Fixed Assets - : 11 11
Tangible Fixed Assets - 65,930 65,930
Investments g 98 - 107
Currents Assets Tod B,255 1,605 10,624
Current Liabilities - {4,420) - {4,420)
Pension Scheme asset . i i 2
Total Net Assets 773 1933 67,546 72,252
£1.  Capital Commitments
2025 2024
£'000 £'000
Contracted for, but not provided in the financial statements GLE i S
658 999

b2



Docusign Envelope ID: F83853E4-9B37-45C9-A885-C90084C9839E

Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust
31 August 20215 [company number 10493174}

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

22, Commitments under Operating Leases

At 31" August, the Trust had minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as

Fiolloes:

Land and building
- Amounts due within one year
- Amounts due between one and five years
- Amounts due after five years

Other
= Amounts due within one year
- Amounts due bebweean one and five years
- Amounts due after five years

2025 2024
£'000 £'000
53 53
213 213
320 1. S
586 640
S0 105
161 248
251 353

23, Reconciliation of net Income / (expenditure) to net cash flow from operating activities

Net income [ (expenditure) for the reporting period (as per
the statement of financial activities)

Adjusted for:

Transfer from local authority on conversion [note 33]
Cash received on conversion

Met debtors [ creditors received on conversion
Amaortisation [note 13]

Depreciation [note 14]

Loss on disposal of fived assets [note 14]

Capital grants from DFE and other capital income [note 3]
Interest receivable [note 6]

Defined benefit pension scheme cost less contributions
payable [note 29]

Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost [note 29]
Decrease [ (Increase] in investments [note 15]

Decrease [ (Increase) in stocks [note 16]

{Increase) in debtors [note 17]

Increase in creditors less than 1 year [note 18]

Net cash provided by f (used in) Operating Activities
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2025 2024
restated

£000 £000
3,282 28,111
- (25,850)
1,130

- (443)

7 7
2,756 2743
4 242
{3,195) {3,276)
(284) (194)
(426) (420)
{234) {170}
107 (9
24 {11}
(403} (131)
173 5495
1,247 2,304




Docusign Envelope ID: F83853E4-9B37-45C9-A885-C90084C9839E
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Motes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

24, Cash flows from financing activities

Repayments of borrowing
Cash inflows from new bomrowing
Net cash provided by [ {used in) financing activities

25, Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends, interest and rents from investments
Purchase of tangible fixed assets

Capital grants from DHE

Capital donation

Met cash provided by / (used in) investing activities

26. Analysls of cash and cash eguivalents

Cashi in hand and at bank
Short-term investments
Total cash and cash eguivalents

27.  Contingent liabilities

31 August 2025 (company number 10499174}

2025 2024
£000 £00D
2025 2024
£000

E000
284 194
(3,088) (2,238)
3,150 3,176
45 100
393 1,232
2025 2024
£000 £000
6,706 7,235
4,840 2,071

11,546 9 306

The Trust is not aware of any issues that could give rise to a contingent liability.

28. Members' liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in
the event of it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to
be a member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding £1 for the debts and liabilities

contracted before he/she ceases to be a member.
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Heart of Mercia Multi-Academy Trust
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31" August 2025

29. Pension Obligations

The Trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes, the Teachers' Pension Scheme for
England and Wales [TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which are managed by Worcestershire County Council (WCC) and
Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council (DMBC). Both are multi-em ployer defined-benefit plans.

The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2020 and of the LGPS
31 March 2022.

Employer and employee contributions amounting to E£890k were payable to the schemes at 31 August
2025 (2024: £822k) and are included within creditors.

Teachers’ Pension Scheme

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed
by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for teachers in
acadermies. All teachers have the option to opt-out of the TPS following enrolment.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and employer makes contributions, as a
percentage of salary. These contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other
pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parfiament.

Valuation of the Teachers' Pension Scheme

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the
TPS in accordance with the Public Services Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions
2014 published by HM Treasury every four years. The aim of the review is to ensure scheme costs are
recognised and managed appropriately and the review specifies the level of future contributions.

Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of
benefits and many other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31
March 2020. The valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 27 October
2023, with the SCAPE {Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience) rate, set by HMT,
applying 2 notional investment return based on 1.7% about the rate of CPL The key elements of the
valuation outcome are:

« employer contribution rates set at 28.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% employer
administration charge). This is an increase of 5% in employer contributions and the cost
control result is such that no change in member benefits is needed.

« total scheme liabilities {pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future
henefits) for service to the effective date of £262,000 million, and notional assets {estimated
future contributions together with the notional investments held at the valuation date] of
£222,200 million giving a notional past service deficit of £39,800 million

The results of this valuation were implemented from 1 April 2024, The next valuation result is due to
be implemented by 1 April 2027.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31% August 2025

29, Pension Obligations [continued)
The employer's pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £5,909k (2024: £4,996k).
A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pension website,

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension plan. The
Trust is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the plan. According, the
Trust has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its contributions to the
scheme as if it were a defined-contribution scheme, The Trust has set out above the information
available on the scheme,

Local Government Pension Scheme

The LGPS are funded defined-benefit pension schemes, with the assets held in separate Trustee-
administered funds, King Edward VI College, Stourbridge wses the West Midlands Pension Fund
[WMPF) and the rest of the Trust uses the Worcestershire Pension Fund {(WPF). The total contribution
made for the period ended were:

2025 2024
£'000 £'000
Emplover's 2,018 1,872
Employes’s 597 544
2,615 2,416

The agreed contribution rates for future years are 19.6% (WPF) and 2 1.3% (WMPF) for employers and
5.5% to 9.9% for employees, depending on salary. Due to a past deficit in the scheme, the Trust has
miade additional contributions in the period amounting to £58k (2024; E108K) to WPF and £nil {2024:
Enil) to WMPF.

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in
the event of academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be
miet by the Departrment for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013 and on 21 July
2022, the Department for Education reaffirmed its commitment to the guarantee, with a
parfiamentany minute published on GOV.UK.

The assumptions used by the actuaries in the year end LGPS pension valuation does not take account
of the current inflation rates. Although this would adjust the valuation, the Trustees feel this is an
arbitrary exercise which would add unnecessary additional cost in these already financially
challenging times. A full triennial valuation will be performed in 2025, the results of which will come
into effect from 1 April 2026,
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29, Pension Obligations (continued)
Principal Actuarial Assumptions

The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the fund at 317 March 2022,
updated by a qualified independent actuary:

31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
2025 2025 2024 2024
% % % %%
WPF WMPF WPF WMPF
Rate of increase in salaries 4.20 3.70 4,15 3.65
Rate of increase for pensions in 2.70 2.70 2.65 2.65
payment / inflation
Discount  rate  for scheme 6.05 6.05 5 5
Liabilities
Inflation assumption (CP1) 2.70 2.70 2.65 2.65
Commutation of pensions to lump 75 50 75 50
sums (manx)

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in maortality
rates. The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:

31 August 31 Aupgust 31 August 31 August
2025 2025 2024 2024
[ WPF WMPF WPF WHMPF
Retiring Today
Males 1.5 20.9 21.2 206
Females 23.7 4.3 236 24.2
Retiring in 20 Years N
Males 22.7 22.0 225 1.7
Females 25.5 25.4 254 254
31 August 2025 | 31 August 2024
Sensitivity Analysis £000 £'000
Discount rate -0.1% o 12,676 3,770
Mortality assumption 1 -,r;ﬁr'iﬁ'treasgn 11,960 3017
CPl rate +0.1% 12,829 3,781
Pay growth +0.1% 11,364 4,465
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Motes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31* August 2025

29, Pension Obligations (continued)

The Trust's share of the assets in the scheme weare:

31 August 31 August

2025 2024

. £'000 £°000

Equities 29,699 26,252
Bonds 6,725 6,085
Cash 1,266 1,030
Property 8,785 2,110
Total market value of assets 46,475 41477
Actual return on scheme assets . 3,805 4,404

Amounts included in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension plan:

31 August 31 Auguist
2025 2024
restated
£'000 £000
Fair value of plan assets 46,475 41477
Present value of plan obligations (33,188) (36,981)
Effect of asset celling (13,287) (4.496)

Met pensions asset [ (liability) .

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities (incorporating the income and

expenditure account):
31 August 31 August

2025 2024

£'000 £°000
Current service cost [1,502) {1,421)
Past service cost - (31}
Net interest income J (costs) 234 170
Transfer in on conversion - (1,029}
Remeasurement of assets (660} 439
Total amount recognised in the SOFA (2,018) (1,872)
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29, Pension Obligations [continued)

Movement in net defined benefit asset / (Hability) during the period:

Brought forward at 1 September 2024
Movement in period:

Current service cost

Past service cost

Employer contributions

Met interest on defined asset

Transfer in on conversion

Actuarial (koss) / gain

Met defined benefit asset [ [liability)
in scheme at 31 August 2025

Asset and Liability Reconciliation:

31 August 31 August
2025 2024
£'000 £'000
(1,592) {1,421)

. (31)
2,018 1872
234 170

- {1,029)
(660) 439

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

Brought forward at 1 September 2024 restated
Current service cost

Past service cost

Interest costs

Employee contributions

Transfer in on conversion

Actuarial [gain)

Estimated benefits paid

Defined benefit obligations at 31 August 2025
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31 August 2025 31 August 2024

rastated
£'000 E"Q00
36,981 24,838
1,592 1,421
. i1
1,875 1,774
557 S
- B. 266
(6,779) 955
(1,078} (B48)
33,188 36,081
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29, Pansion Obligations (continued)

Changes in the fair value of the Trust's share of scheme assets:

31 August 2025 31 August 2024

£'000 E000
Brought forward at 1 September 2024 41,477 28,358
Interest income 2,109 1,944
Actuarial gain [ (loss) 1,352 2,370
Employer contributions 2,018 1,872
Employee contributions 597 544
Transfer in on conversion - 7,237
Estimated benefits paid (1,078) (B4R)
Fair value of scheme assets at 31 August 2025 46,475 41,477

The Trust has an unrecognised surplus of £13,287k (2024: £4,496k) in respect of its defined benefit
pension Scheme as it does not expect to recover the Scheme surplus either through reduced
contributions in the future or through refunds from the Scheme. Included within actuarial
remeasurements is an amount of (E8,791k) (2024: (£976k)) in respect of the movement in the
restriction on the surplus in the Scheme,

30. Related Party Transactions

Owing to the nature of the Trust and the compesition of the Board of Directors being drawn from
local public and private secter organisations, transactions may take place with arganisations in which
the Trustees have an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted in
accordance with the requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook (ATH), including notifying the DFE
of all transactions made on or after 1 April 2019 and obtaining their approval where required, and
with the Trust's Financial Regulations and normal procurement procedures relating to connected and
related party transactions. The following related party transactions took place in the financial period:

The total expenses paid to or on behalf of the Trustees during the period were less than £3k (2024:
less tham £4k).

Mo Trustee has received any remuneration or waived payments from the Trust during the period.

Worcester Sixth Form College — Mr Edword Semior

The wife of the Principal was employed by the College during the period and received remuneration
of £47k (2024: £45k). The post was paid within the normal pay section for her roke and this individual
received no special treatment as a result of the relationship.

John Kyrie High Schoo! - Mr Jullan Margan

The wife of the Headteacher was employed by the School during the period and received
remuneration of £49k (2024: £47k). The post was paid within the normal pay section for her role and
this individual received no special treatment as a result of the relationship.
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31. Events after the end of the reporting period
There have been no events since the balance sheet date that would materially affect the results for

the period.
3. Agency Arrangements

The Trust distributes bursary funds to students as an agent for the DfE. In the accounting peried
ending 31 August 2025, the Trust received £1.587m (2024: £1.643m) and disbursed £1,141k (2024
£8971k) from the funds. As a result, an amount of £446k (2024: £672k) ks included in crediters relating
to the undistributed funds.

33, Conversion to an Academy Trust

On 17 September 2023, The Chantry School and John Kyrle High School converted to academy status
under the Academies Act 2010 and all the operations and assets and liabilities were transferred 1o
Heart to Mercia Trust from the former The Chantry School and John Kyrle High School for Enil
consideration.

The transfer has been accounted for as a combination that is in substance a gift. The assets and
liabilities transferred were valued at their fair value and recognised in the balance sheet under the
appropriate headings with a corresponding net amount recognised as a net gain in the Statement of
Financial Activities as "Transfer from local authority an conversion”.

The following table sets out the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities transferred and an
analysis of their recognition in the 50FA,

Restricted Restricted
Unrestricted General Fixed Asset
Funds Funds Funds Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
The Chantry 5choal
Tangible fixed assets
Leasehold land and - - 6,578 6,578
buildings
Other tangible fived - - 326 326
assets
Current assets 352 518 . B70
Current liabilities - (342) - (342)
Pension liability - (241) - {241}
Met assets/liabilities 352 (65) 6,904 7,191
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33, Conversion to an Academy Trust [continued)
Restricted Restricted
Unrestricted General Fized Asset
Funds Funds Funds Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Johm Kyrle High
School

Tangible fixed assets

Leasehold land and - - 18,389 18,389
buildings

Other tangible fixed - . B59 B39
assets
Current assats 124 551 . 675
Current liabilities - i516) - (516)
Pension liability = (788) . (78E)
Net assets/liabilities 124 (753) 19,288 18,659
Transfer in on 476 (818) 26,192 25,850
conversion
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